
United Nations 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 

NINTH SESSION 
Official Records 

CONTENTS 

Agenda item 20: 
Regulation, limitation and balanced reduction of all 

armed forces and all armaments : report of the Dis­
armament Commission (continued) 

Page 

Agenda item 68: 49 
Conclusion of an international convention (treaty) on 

the reduction of armaments and the prohibition of 
atomic, hydrogen and other weapons of mass destruc­
tion (continued) 

Chairman: Mr. Francisco URRUTIA (Colombia). 

AGENDA ITEMS 20 AND 68 

Regulation, limitation and balanced reduction of 
all armed forces and all armaments: report of 
the Disarmament Commission (A/2685, A/ 
C.l/751, A/C.l/752) (continued) 

Conclusion of an international convention (treaty) 
on the reduction of armaments and the prohi­
bition of atomic, hydrogen and other weapons 
of mass destruction (A/2742 and Corr.l, A/ 
2742/Add.l, A/C.l/750) (continued) 

1. Mr. MARTIN (Canada): The speakers who have 
preceded me have already, I think, sufficiently out­
lined the earlier stages of disarmament negotiations. 
I do not, therefore, propose to take up the time of 
this Committee with any general exposition of this 
problem. Instead, I shall try to suggest, as briefly as 
I can, what seems to me to be the essential perspective 
of intemational relations and world politics in which 
the disarmament problem should be viewed. Within the 
particular field of disarmament problems, I propose to 
address myself to those aspects which, in the view of 
the Canadian delegation, present the most important 
unresolved differences between the views enunciated 
by the Government of the Soviet Union, on the one 
hand, and the governments of some of the Western 
Powers, on the other. I shall also have a suggestion 
to make as to the procedure which, in my view, we 
can most usefully follow if we are to make further 
progress in this important field. 

2. It is, I think, worth while reminding ourselves, 
as we discuss this item on our agenda, that armaments 
are a symptom rather than a cause of international 
tension. They are, as a great student of the art of 
diplomacy has recently pointed out, primarily the re­
flection of international differences and only second­
arily the cause of them. 

3. Any actions, however, which diminish interna­
tional teLsions and contribute to a real understanding 
in world politics, are direct contributions to the solu­
tion of the problem of disarmament. Without such 

FIRST COMMimE, 688tb 
MEETING 

Wednesday, 13 October 1954, 
at 10.30 a.m. 

New York 

relaxation it is arguable, of course, that concentration 
on disarmament negotiations alone is unlikely to be 
productive. If the Soviet Union wishes to make a real 
contribution to disarmament, permitting progress on 
such matters as the conclusion of a peace treaty with 
Austria would be a major contribution to this end. 
So would actions to grant a real, rather than a spurious, 
national autonomy to those many European peoples the 
control over whose destinies has in the past fifteen 
years been forcefully assumed by Moscow. Now I 
have no desire to broaden our debate, and certainly 
no desire to initiate any controversy. However, I do 
feel that in a matter of this importance we should be 
realists as well as idealists. I have no doubt that Mr. 
Vyshinsky could point his finger at various Western 
actions which have been, in our view, defensive, but 
which he might claim have caused concern in Moscow 
and so contributed to tension. But it is well for all 
of us to bear in mind that in the world as it is the 
problem of disarmament must be seen against this 
real background of international tension. Polite un­
realism or artificial abstractions are no service at this 
time to the cause of disarmament or, in the view of 
my Government, to the cause of the United Nations. 

4. This is not, however, to say that no progress can 
be made in the disarmament field itself. Success, or 
even partial success, in negotiating a disarmament 
agreement would of course, in time, facilitate agree­
ments in other fields. 

5. Moreover, there are reasons to believe that prog­
ress under present conditions may be less difficult than 
it has been hitherto. For one thing, I think it quite 
possible that men in the governments principally con­
cerned, on either side of the Iron Curtain, are begin­
ning to fear the awful power that scientists are putting 
and have put at our disposal. Certainly I am not 
ashamed to admit myself that I find the situation most 
disquieting. For the stakes are incomparably higher 
now than they were a few years ago. I think that only 
those associated with governments which have some 
direct experience of atomic processes and direct access 
to classified information of technicians working in 
this field can be aware how serious is the threat which 
contamination and other effects of nuclear explosions 
can pose to the very existence of organic life on this 
planet. 

6. None of us should be ashamed or too proud to 
admit that we are concerned. I am the Minister of 
National Health and Welfare in my country, and I am 
sure that it will be appreciated that in that capacity 
alone I would have added reasons to be vitally con­
cerned about the cataclysmic possibilities of the future 
and the great draining of resources which heavy levels 
of armament mean to countries which wish to improve 
their health and their social services. Humility before 
the awesome power which our scientists are placing in 
our hands is, I suggest, a becoming attitude for mem­
bers of governments now in any part of the world. 

49 A/C.l/PV.688 



50 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

7. We have barely begun to realize, still less to work 
out, the implications of the growing interdependence 
which technology is forcing on the human race. But in 
face of this interdependence, we dare not shut the door 
on any possibility of negotiations to bring nuclear 
powers under civilized control. 

8. It may be that it is awareness of these growing 
dangers that, at least in part, has prompted the apparent 
advances in the Soviet position which the able Mr. 
Vyshinsky has outlined during the last few weeks. On 
the one hand, we of the democratic world dare not be 
naive. It would be foolish and dishonest to pretend 
that those who are most sceptical may not be right. 
Certainly, the timing of the Soviet Union's proposals 
suggests that the men in the Kremlin may have their 
eye rather on debates elsewhere-in London, in Paris 
--concerning the unity and the defence programmes of 
Western Europe than on the desirability of a disarma­
ment programme in itself. But, though one cannot help 
being to some extent sceptical, my Government dares 
not, and suggests that none of us dare, write off as 
exclusively propaganda any advances which promise 
even the possibility of progress in the important field 
of armament control. 

9. At this early stage in our debate it is not, I think, 
necessary for this Committee or the General Assembly 
to come to any final conclusion regarding the sub­
stantive proposals of the Soviet Union or of the West­
ern Powers as they stand before us at present. Our 
principal effort at this stage, as I see it, should be to 
seek to clarify and to understand, and above all to 
create the best conditions for further negotiation. 

10. In taking stock of our position we can, however, 
recognize that, as a result principally of the efforts of 
the London Sub-Committee, where the Anglo-French 
proposals were worked out and presented [DCj53, an­
nex 9], the gap between the two sides, though still 
formidable, is narrower than when the Assembly last 
debated this question over a year ago. Without wish­
ing in any way to belittle the Soviet Union proposals 
of 30 September [A/2742 and Corr.1], I hope that one 
of the direct results of our Committee proceedings this 
year will be the recognition of the true significance 
of the Anglo-French proposals of 11 June last. If these 
proposals are carefully examined against the back­
ground of previous Western proposals, it is, to my 
mind, not surprising that they have now been accepted 
by the Soviet Union as a basis for negotiation or, as 
I think Mr. Vyshinsky put it, as a basis for dis­
cussion. They represent indeed a very serious and a 
very generous effort towards compromise and concilia­
tion of previously irreconcilable positions. 
11. Methods of diplomacy are not everywhere the 
same, and it may not be helpful to underscore the 
differences too heavily. However, I think it is worth 
noting that the Anglo-French proposals were first pre­
sented to the Soviet Union privately and informally, so 
that they might receive the serious and sympathetic 
consideration which ·we felt they deserved. No attempt 
was made to capitalize publicly on the step forward 
the Western Powers were then taking. Our object 
was not publicity but agreement. No extraneous condi­
tions were attached to these proposals, and they dealt 
simply and solely with the question of disarmament. 
There has never at any time been the slightest sugges­
tion that, if the foreign policy of the Soviet Union 
were not changed in one or other major respects, the 
Anglo-French proposals might be withdrawn. The fact 

is that any real agreement on a substantial measure 
of disarmament would so alter the international scene 
as to affect the course of foreign policy not only in one 
field but in every field, and not only in one country 
but in all countries. 

12. One cannot help but recall the reception of the 
Anglo-French proposals by the Soviet Union in Lon­
don. This reception, I think, was in contrast to the 
reception the Western Powers have accorded the Soviet 
counter-proposals which are now before us. On the 
very day that he received the Anglo-French memo­
randum in London, Mr. Y. Malik accused the United 
Kingdom and French Governments of proposing mere­
ly to "legalize" the use of atomic weapons. Mr. Vysh­
insky's counter-proposals, put forward a few weeks 
ago, have not only been welcomed by the Western 
Powers and other nations, but were at once promised 
the most careful consideration. And I can say to 
Mr. Vyshinsky that my Government has given and 
is giving his proposals the most serious and careful 
study and consideration. 

13. However much we might have wished for a 
quicker response, the important thing now is that there 
has been a response from the Government of the Soviet 
Union, and our task is therefore to study it with the 
care and objectivity which the importance of this sub­
ject requires. It is only human to admit, however -
and I am sure that Mr. Vyshinsky, great realist that 
he is, will understand why we feel it necessary to 
say these things, and I hope we say them in good 
temper - that, in view of the long and unhappy ex­
perience which we have all had in negotiations on this 
subject, we cannot wholly remove from our minds the 
memory of past man~uvres intended to play upon the 
hopes and fears of all peoples for the narrow national 
advantage of one country in the battle for the minds 
of men. In 1954, the ninth year of the atomic age and 
the third year in which all countries have coexisted in 
the fear of hydrogen weapons, it is already much too 
late for any of us to treat the subject of disarmament 
as an element in the cold war. No disarmament proposal 
can be treated merely as bait to be pulled out of the 
water if it does not catch its fish. Nor can any of us 
afford, let it be added, to dismiss any proposal as mere 
propaganda, at least until the proposal has been 
thoroughly sifted, preferably in a small informal group. 
14. At this stage, I would not want my colleagues in 
this Committee to think that, because we submitted a 
draft resolution [A/C.l/752] yesterday, we believed 
that the time had come for termination of the general 
debate on this subject. We think it is important that 
there should be a full and unrestricted debate in this 
Committee. I am sure that all of us were greatly im­
pressed yesterday [ 687 th meeting] by the interrogations 
and the replies of Mr. Vyshinsky and Mr. Belaunde, 
and even the smile of the representative of Thailand. 
Assembly debate and Committee debate have an essen­
tial place, and, in the process of arriving at a collective 
assessment of the merits of the two sets of proposals 
before us, every country around this table has an 
important role to play. 
15. My country does not regard itself, just because it 
has been a member of the Sub-Committee, as among 
the few countries in the world that have a stake or a 
responsibility in the solution of this problem. In the final 
analysis, I think our experience over the years has 
shown that no country can indefinitely resist the moral 
judgment of the great majority of the members of the 



688th meeting - 13 October 1954 51 

Assembly. We saw at the seventh session, for instance, 
how an Indian proposal [AjC.1j734jRev.2], adopted 
by the General Assembly [resolution 610 (VII)] with 
the support of almost all countries outside the Soviet 
bloc, subsequently was accepted as the basis for the 
Korean Armistice Agreement [S/3079] that brought 
the fighting in that part of the world to an end. Though 
the representative of the Soviet Union in the Sub­
Committee in London rejected the Anglo-French pro­
posals as vigorously as his delegation in the Assembly 
had turned down the Indian proposal on Korea eighteen 
months before, the Soviet Union has now accepted the 
Anglo-French proposals as the basis for discussion, 
after approximately the same interval of time as had 
elapsed before the Assembly's Korean resolution was 
virtually accepted by the Communists. 

16. As soon as we have covered the ground in a 
general way in this Committee, I believe that the 
Disarmament Commission should be requested to re­
convene its Sub-Committee to continue its work in 
an effort to reconcile the proposals made by the Soviet 
Union, France, the United Kingdom, the United States 
and other governments, to seek in private an acceptable 
solution and to report to the General Assembly and the 
Security Council as soon as sufficient progress has been 
made. But I wish to repeat that in no way would we 
be in favour of any move today or tomorrow that 
would restrict the general character of this debate. 

17. Some lessening of the gap between our respective 
points of view, I think, is possible, and agreement will, 
I submit, be easier to reach in private informal meet­
ings of the Powers which the Disarmament Commis­
sion considered "principally involved": France, the 
Soviet Union, the United Kingdom, the United States, 
and my country. Whatever views may be held as to 
the membership of the Sub-Committee, it will be con­
ceded, I think, that the Sub-Committee, where the 
Anglo-French proposals were born, is competent to 
find out what are the possibilities of making further 
progress now. If headway cannot be made among 
those five countries, I very much doubt whether it 
can be made in any larger group of nations. But let 
us underrate neither the possibilities nor the difficul­
ties. 
18. The other day, when we were debating the in­
clusion of the Soviet item in our agenda, Mr. Vyshin­
sky complained of what he interpreted as a critical 
attitude adopted by the United Kingdom representative 
towards the new Soviet proposals, and on 11 October 
[ 686th meeting] he also referred to Mr. Mach's "inqui­
sition". I suppose this is the danger which all of us 
run in any attempt to obtain a clearer understanding 
of what exactly the Soviet Union means by its pro­
posals - although I suppose that danger would exist 
with regard to any proposal, whether it was offered by 
the Soviet Union or not. Although one apparently runs 
the risk of having one's questions interpreted as criti­
cisms, that risk exists both here and in the private sub­
committee if we should decide to re-establish one. I 
shall therefore try, in a constructive spirit, to indicate 
some of the problems which the new Soviet proposals, 
as we understand them, present to my Government. 

19. Let me acknowledge in advance that in several 
respects the new Soviet proposals appear to be an im­
provement on the Soviet Union's former position. I 
shall not make the mistake which Mr. Y. Malik made, 
I think, in London, when he rejected the Anglo-French 
proposals as being "indistinguishable" from the pre-

vious Western position. Other speakers who have pre­
ceded me have already analysed certain ambiguities 
and uncertainties in the Soviet draft resolution. They 
have asked Mr. Vyshinsky certain questions which 
also seem to my mind to require an answer if we are 
to understand one another and to make progress. I can 
well understand that there may be questions - as 
indeed there are - which Mr. Vyshinsky will want 
to take time to answer, although he has thus far, I 
think, been very generous in his readiness to partici­
pate in the debate and to answer questions. This matter 
is so important that one should not draw hasty conclu­
sions from a refusal at a given moment to furnish 
a full reply to a particular question. 

20. But, after examining the Soviet proposals with 
care and attention and having heard Mr. Vyshinsky's 
preliminary reply and further exposition yesterday and 
the day before, I am, I confess, left in some uncertainty 
as to how far the Soviet Union has really gone towards 
the Western position. Indeed, the Soviet Union's basic 
provisions, as Mr. Vyshinsky calls them, appear in 
certain respects quite inconsistent with the Anglo­
French proposals. Mr. Vyshinsk-y says that his Govern­
ment has accepted the Anglo-French proposals as a 
basis. He has asked the General Assembly to instruct 
the Disarmament Commission to prepare a treaty on 
the basis of the Anglo-French proposals. The Soviet 
Union has made what is really a series of counter­
proposals, which fully bear out the comment which Mr. 
Vyshinsky made here on 11 October that his Govern­
ment had not accepted our proposals "wholesale". The 
main outlines of the two sets of proposals, he told us, 
however, converge. I hope he is right, but, at the first 
glance which we have been able to give to this problem, 
some of the Soviet counter-proposals seem to diverge 
from those of the Anglo-French memorandum. 

21. Mr. Vyshinsky complained on 11 October that 
previous speakers had not made their questions suffi­
ciently precise, had not framed them in such a way 
that he could answer "yes" or "no". I do admit that 
some of Mr. Moch's very able and, I think, very im­
portant questions [ 685th meeting] did not perhaps en­
courage that kind of abbreviated reply. One way, how­
ever, of posing the problem in such a manner that 
a straight "yes" or "no" answer can be given is to 
attempt a brief exposition of the Soviet proposals re­
garding control, as I understand them, and to ask Mr. 
Vyshinsky to correct me if I in any way misrepresent 
his position. 

22. The basic provisions specified in the new Soviet 
proposals regarding control fall into two stages or 
phases. In the first phase of reductions of armed forces 
and armaments, there is to be a temporary control organ 
set up under the Security Council. In the second 
phase of reductions and prohibition, as in the first 
phase, there is to be a control organ which would be 
totally unable to take the smallest enforcement action 
in case of violations or evasions without specific 
authority in each case from the Security Council, where 
the veto would apply. Mr. Vyshinsky said as much 
on 11 October, and again yesterday, maintaining that 
only the Security Council was in a position to apply 
enforcement measures. This is a very important phase 
of the whole problem. In other words, there is no 
action which either the temporary or the permanent 
control organ could take covering either phase of the 
Soviet reductions and prohibition other than to report 
a violation to the Security Council. 



52 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

23. I do not think, by the way, that anyone is pro­
posing to give the control organ arbitrary or unneces­
sary powers over the economic life of any State. 
But to say that the control organ could do nothing 
except report, could take no action to stop a violation 
on the spot, pending investigation and a reference to 
a higher authority, seems to me and to my Government 
to be wholly inadequate. 

24. Still more important, the Soviet proposals give 
the temporary international control commission, which 
is to control the reductions of the first phase, only 
"the right to require States to provide the necessary 
information on the measures taken by them to reduce 
armaments and armed forces ... States shall periodic­
ally supply the commission at established intervals with 
information concerning the implementation of the mea­
sures provided for in the convention". I take it that 
this means that the temporary control commission for 
this first phase would be empowered merely to receive 
information submitted to it by Member States in order 
to substantiate their own statements concerning the ful­
filment of the reductions in the conventional field which 
they had undertaken. So far as I can see, there would 
be no "on-the-spot" inspection or control of any kind 
in this phase, unless that is what is intended by the 
phrase: "The commission shall take the necessary steps 
to supervise the fulfilment by States of the obligations 
assumed by them in connexion with the reduction ... ". 

25. If that is so, it means that the Soviet Union is 
proposing that all States should rely on each other's 
good faith, unsupported by any "on-the-spot" inspec­
tion. up to the commencement of the second stage, at 
which point the vital declaration would be made prohi­
biting atomic, hydrogen and other weapons of mass 
destruction. I might elaborate on the implications of 
this situation, but T think they are sufficiently obvious 
to us all. 

26. Passing on to the second phase of the Soviet 
proposals, we see that a permanent international con­
trol organ is to be established for the supervision of 
the implementation both of the prohibition of atomic 
weapons and of the reduction of other armaments and 
armed forces. "This international control organ", we are 
told in the Soviet proposals, "shall have full powers 
of supervision, including the power of inspection on a 
continuing basis to the extent necessary to ensure imple­
mentation of the convention by all States." This perma­
nent international control organ could not be in exist­
ence, therefore, when the prohibition of nuclear wea­
pons was declared. It could not be ready to discharge 
its functions for some time, probably many months, 
after the prohibition had come into force. My Govern­
ment has asked me to underline this point, although it 
has already been mentioned at least once in this debate. 

27. This concept is far removed from the simultaneity 
proposed during the Sub-Committee talks in London 
by Mr. Lloyd and Mr. Moch. That simultaneity is one 
in which prohibition would not be declared until the 
officials of the international control organ had been 
stationed in readiness to enforce the prohibition from 
the moment of its declaration. The same principle of 
real simultaneity is applied throughout the phasing of 
the Anglo-French proposals - a phasing which, of 
course, differs in a number of other respects from 
that proposed by the Soviet Union. 

28. On 11 October, I think, Mr. Vyshinsky conceded 
that there could be no simultaneity between the declara-

tion of a total prohibition of nuclear weapons - which 
might take only five minues - and the establishment 
of effective controls to ensure the implementation 
of that prohibition - which he suggested might take 
six months or a year. During that period of six months 
or a year I rather thought Mr. Vyshinsky was saying 
that we would be moving- towards effective controls 
as the permanent control organization was established 
and trained. but for most of that time a prohibition 
would be in force before effective control had been 
established. This is certainly a very important consi­
deration in this problem, and that is why I am spend­
ing some time on it. 

29. Apart from our worries over the time-table en­
visaged in the Soviet proposals, the point on which my 
Government feels the greatest uncertainty and uneasi­
ness is whether the "necessary powers" which Mr. 
Vyshinsky says the permanent control organ would 
be given would include the power not only to verify 
information submitted by governments but also to 
determine whether the information submitted was com­
plete. Mr. Vyshinsky said on 11 October that the 
Soviet position had always been that to control was to 
verify. That is just the very problem. In the first 
phase of control, and apparently in the second, the 
Soviet proposals seem to conceive of control as a 
process of checking up on the correctness of informa­
tion submitted by governments rather than of actively 
investigating, anywhere. at any time and by any means, 
whether the information submitted to the control 
authorities is not only correct but complete. 

30. For us. control is more than verification. For us, 
a control organ to be effective must have authority 
to go wherever it wishes, not in order to pry into 
the economic activities of any country, but because 
it must make sure that, to use Mr. Vyshinsky's own 
example, a button factory is not secretly making lethal 
weapons which have not been reported to the control 
organ. As Mr. Vyshinsky said, and I think said well, 
button factories can make things to kill people, and 
it is essential that the control authority be empowered 
to make a check at any time on any plant where wea­
pons could be manufactured. This is not economic es­
pionage, but it does involve a good deal more authority 
for the international control organ than mere verifica­
tion of data submitted. I think it is in the interests 
of reaching agreement that this point should be clearly 
stated. This is the kind of question to which I think a 
simple "yes" or "no" answer can be given, and I hope 
that Mr. Vyshinsky will find it possible to do so. 
31. There is another aspect of the control problem 
which may be raised by the new Soviet proposals. It is 
proposed to take 31 December 1953 as the date fixing 
the levels of forces from which the reductions are to 
be made. This date was also suggested in the Anglo­
French proposal. But T think we should be clear that 
this would not mean the exclusion from the disarma­
ment programme, as understood by either side, of new 
weapons developed since that time, if there were any. 

32. The question of the extent of the permanent con­
trol organ's powers is also raised in an acute form 
by the well-known Soviet reservation, which Mr. 
Vyshinsky mentioned earlier in his statement of 30 
September in the General Assembly [ 484th meeting], 
that States must adhere to "the principles of sovereign 
equality of States [and] non-interference in the affairs 
of other States". If inspection on a continuing basis 
means permanent inspection with the right to go any-



888th meeting - 13 Oetober 1954 53 

where at any time in the territory of all States which 
have signed the agreement, that is all to the good. We 
have yet to hear. hmvever, from any Soviet spokes­
man that this is what they mean by "inspection on a 
continuing basis", and this is certainly what my Govern­
ment means. If the Soviet Union Government has not 
modified its doctrine of so-called national sovereignty 
and adapted it, at least partially, to meet the exigencies 
of an interdependent world. agreement on effective 
safeguards-and, therefore, on a disarmament treaty­
is virtually inconceivable, and it is not fair to public 
opinion to state the situation in any other terms. 

33. I have tried to state some of the difficulties still 
inherent in the control problem, and to state them 
frankly, because I believe with Mr. Lloyd that this is 
the crux of our problem. When the Anglo-French 
and Soviet proposals are considered in greater detail, 
I think we shall find that if agreement on control can 
be achieved, the nther aspects of the problem will all 
fall into place. I would, however, agree with Mr. 
Vyshinsky when he said that there was "no insuperable 
contradiction" between the two positions. I well remem­
ber that in the Korean debate, when we thought we had 
reached the end, Mr. Vyshinsky in that amiable way 
which is his alone. said he did not think we should con­
clude that there was no hope in the matter. I felt yester­
day, when he said there was no insuperable contradiction, 
that it mav be that this debate will usher in a real and 
serious agreement on this important question. 

34. The creation of adequate and authoritative machi­
nery for inspection and control of disarmament is 
not-let it be clear-any more disturbin!S to Soviet 
interests than to the interests of any other country, 
because there are very unusual steps proposed in the 
kind of control we are talking about in so far as the 
integrity of national governments is concerned. The 
gowrnments of the \V estern Powers have proposed 
only what they themselves are prepared to accept in 
their own countries. Mistrust is not the exclusive 
property of one or the other side of the Iron Curtain. 
A prerequisite of any disarmament system is certainly 
that no State should have cause to fear that its security 
would be endangered by the operation of the control 
system or by any other feature of the programme. and 
this is indicated in the draft resolution [ A/C.l/752] 
which stands in the name of my country. 

35. If we are to have serious and informal examina­
tion of the Anglo-French and Soviet proposals, and all 
other proposals which may have been or may be sub­
mitted. then I think we must all agree that upon the 
conclusion of the disarmament debate in this Committee, 
a debate which I think and would urge should be 
extensive and thorough, there should be an early oppor­
tunity for the further examination of the problem by 
a smaller group. For the reasons I have already given, 
my delegation believes that the most appropriate group 
for this purpose would be the Disarmament Commis­
sion's Sub-Committee where the Anglo-French pro­
posals, now accepted by the Soviet Union as a basis, 
were presented. 

36. There is an obvious similarity between the pro­
cedure which I am suggesting and the suggestions 
made yesterday [687th meeting] by the representative 
of the Philippines, and I want the representative of the 
Philippines to know that I tried to see him earlier 
this morning when I learned that his draft resolution 
[A/C.l/751] had likewise been submitted. The essen­
tial point in common is that both of us see every ad-

vantage in providing a framework for detailed and 
confidential discussion between those governments 
which have been principally involved in this topic, 
in order to see whether differences cannot be thrashed 
out in the quieter and more intimate atmosphere of 
small closed meetings. Small closed meetings have the 
advantage, in difficult and vital negotiations, that they 
take place away from the glare of publicity and free, 
therefore, from the constant temptation to speak at least 
as much for the benefit of public opinion in various 
key areas of the world as to clarify and persuade one's 
associates in negotiation. 
37. But I think the differences in the draft resolu­
tions of the Philippines and of Canada are significant. 
I should like briefly to enumerate them. 
38. First. it seems to me useful not to interrupt this 
general discussion on disarmament, but to preserve 
the full opportunity which the existence of this item 
on our Committee's agenda provides for the represen­
tatives of all nations not only to express their con­
cern-for none of us could be exempt from the fateful 
consequences of ultimate failure in this field-but also 
to put forward any views and proposals which any of 
us may have to contribute to the solution of the dif­
ferences which still divide us. Thus it seems to my 
delegation that it would be regrettable prematurely o-r 
artificially to interrupt the progress of this debate or 
to deprive the Sub-Committee, which I trust will be 
charged with the more detailed negotiations, of the 
advantage of any general views from whatever quarters 
which may be available. 
39. The second point of difference is one of machin­
ery. The question is whether this Assembly should 
seek in the matter of detailed and technical negotiations 
-\Yhich obviously will be necessary if real progress 
is to be made in ·the field of disarmament-to by-pass 
and ignore the machinery of the Disarmament Com­
mission, which is the or~an of the United Nations espe­
cially charged with detailed responsibilities in this 
field. 
40. This question, that is to say, whether we should 
use or by-pass the machinery of the Disarmament Com­
mission, is also closely bound up with the question of 
timing. The Philippine draft resolution, with. whose 
basic objectives, as I have already said, I am 111 har­
mony, would provide an arbitrary deadline-speci­
fically the deadline, I believe, is 15 November-for a 
report back to this Committee, whether or not real pro­
gress has by then been made and whether or not the 
interruption of intimate negotiations which such a dead­
line would involve would be desirable. Of course, it 
could be said that the 15 November report could be 
an interim one and need not necessarily preclude 
further negotiation among the same countries. But is 
it not our experience that-and I think this is only 
to be expected-on a topic as important and as poten­
tially controversial as t~is one is, a r~s~~icted ~To~p, if 
charged with the unaymdable responsibil.Ity _of I.ssumg a 
public report within a few weeks of begi.nnu~g Its fu~c­
tions, is likelv to spend a great deal of Its time dunng 
those weeks ~n the process of drafting and discussing 
the terms of a report rather than concentrating on what 
is, after all, the more important business of substantive 
negotiation? There is also the advantage th.at the 
Disarmament Commission is in permanent sessiOn. 
41. On the highly technical question of disarmament it 
seems to me fairly unlikely-although we would cer­
tainly not wish to rule out this possibility-that subs-



54 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

tantial progress can be made within a few weeks. If 
our draft resolution is adopted-! do not say today, but 
later on, during the course of our deliberations-we 
should like to see the Sub-Committee set up a group 
of working parties which would try to come to grips 
with the essential problems in a few key aspects of 
the subject, to see whether ag-reed papers could not 
be worked out on the basis of which substantial and 
definitive progress could be made. 

42. The sort of timing we envisage, therefore. is 
flexible as to its outcome. But what we have in mind 
is that the general debate in this Committee should be 
continued to give all countries which desire it an oppor­
tunitv to express their views ; and at the end of this 
period-in a week or two--the Committee, which after 
all need not now make final iudgment on the various 
positions. should adopt the Canadian draft resolution 
to prm-ide the appropriate machinery which we hope 
would lead to further progress. We would then antici­
pate that if enough delegations felt the matter to be of 
sufficient importance, as we do, a meeting of the 
General Assembly could be at once convened to con­
sider and, I trust. to approve the draft resolution which 
this First Committee would have adopted. 

4~. Once this was done, the Disarmament Commis­
sion could meet within a dav or so to consider the 
recommendation and, I hope·. to reconvene its Sub­
Committee. The Sub-Committee should then meet with­
out anv unnecessarv delav, and detailed discussions 
shrmlrl heP"in among its members. As to the date of the 
Sub-Committee's report, which would of course be sub­
mitted thro11gh the proper channel of the Disarmament 
Commission, this would depend on the progress realizecl. 
Certainlv mv delegation will do evervthing that it can. 
if it is on the Sub-Committee, to avoid any unnecessary 
delay. If there is sufficient progress to warrant it. it 
will of course be appropriate to have a report back 
to the General Assembly during this session. If. on the 
other hand. the detailed neg-otiations are such that more 
time is ref]uired, then the Disarmament Commission 
can consider the Sub-Committee's report as soon as 
it is ready. 

44. I think that the Canadian draft resolution, to 
which we have given a g-ood bit of thought, is sufficient­
tv simple and straightforward so that I need not take 
the time of the Committee to explain in greater detail 
what is proposed. We have tried in this draft resolu­
tion to avoid asking- the Assembly to take up a substan­
tive position on the specific proposals of either side on 
f]ttestions where detailed clarification is still needed and 
where manv difficulties are still to be resolved. We have 
tried to provide what seems to us the most effective 
machinery for future progress-that is, the same ma­
chinery to which we owe the substantial progress which 
we have made since the last session of the General As­
sembly. We should not forget. I think, that it was 
precisely in the Sub-Committee of the Disarmament 
Commission that there were worked out the significant 
aclvances in the Western position embodied in the An­
glo-French memorandum, which the Soviet Government 
has now agreed to take as the basis for a convention. 

45. I should point out that we take notice in our draft 
resolution not only of the Anglo-French proposals and 
of the report of the Disarmament Commission, but 
also of th~ Soviet draft resolution. 

46. I hope that the procedure we have been proposing 
will commend itself to the members of this Committee. 

47. In particular, I hope that it will be possible for 
the four other delegations which are represented on the 
Disarmament Commission's Sub-Committee to join with 
my delegation in co-sponsoring this draft resolution. 
I appeal, in the name of my Government, most earnest­
ly to my colleagues-Mr. Moch, the representative 
of France, Mr. Lloyd of Her Majesty's Government in 
the United Kingclom, Mr. Wadsworth, the representa­
tive of the United States. and to Mr. Vyshinsky, the 
representative of the Soviet Union-to each of whom 
I yesterday sent a copy of the text with an expression 
of this hope-to consider whether they can co-sponsor 
with us this draft resolution which seeks to provide a 
workmanlike framework for further progress in this 
important matter of disarmament. 

48. The CHAIRMAN (translated from French) : 
The next speaker on the list is the representative of 
Australia. However, the representatives of India, 
France, the United States and the United Kingdom have 
asked to speak, one to ask a question and the other 
three to make a few very brief comments before the 
Australian representative takes the floor. Under the 
rules of procedure, I can interrupt the order of 
speakers only for a point of order. I do not think, how­
ever, that these are exactly points of order. A point of 
order can be raised only to invoke a rule of procedure, 
to comment on procedure or to suggest changes in 
the way in which a debate is being conducted. 

49. All I can do is to ask the representative of Aus­
tralia if he has any objection to my changing the order 
of speakers and allowing these brief statements to be 
made before he is called upon to speak. I should like to 
hear the Australian representative's opinion. 

50. Sir Percy SPENDER (Australia) : If the state­
ments are as described by the Chairman, I shall have 
no objection. 

51. The CHAIRMAN (translated from French) : In 
that case I will call upon the four members of the 
Committee who have asked to speak, on the understand­
ing that their statements must be very brief. I will give 
the floor first to the representative of India, who 
wants to ask a question. 

52. Mr. MENON (India): May I take this oppor­
tunity of saying that we want to thank the Secretariat 
for the provisional verbatim records asked for yester­
day. 

53. The point which my delegation wishes to make 
is as follows. We should like guidance from the Chair­
man. There are three draft resolutions before the Com­
mittee, two of them apparently suggesting that the 
matter under discussion be referred to a body outside 
the Committee. The question which I wanted to address 
to the Chairman is longer than a brief line. Normally, 
the procedure of this Committee is that an item on the 
agenda is subject to what is called a general debate. M v 
submission is that these draft resolutions render the 
general debate into a specific debate. I have not the 
slightest desire to question the motives in introducing 
the draft resolutions. which I am sure are excellent. 
From what we have been told, thev are. But the fact 
is that' the introduction of the draft resolutions tends 
to focus the entire discussion on the subject matter 
of those draft resolutions and takes away from the 
purpose of a general debate, which is the ttsual proce­
dure. Now, if this procedure is followed. any delega­
tion, even before a debate takes place, can submit a 



688th meeting - 13 October 1954 55 

draft resolution and avoid the purpose of a general 
debate. 
54. In view of what the Chairman has said, it would 
not be proper for me to go into the merits of the draft 
resolutions before us. The Philippine draft resolution, 
~ think one should say, has almost the effect of adjourn­
mg the debate. So far as the other one is concerned, it 
calls upon the Assembly to come to conclusions on 
matters which are now matters of difference between 
the two sides in the Disarmament Commission. It also 
takes away the fullest opportunities for a general 
debate in this Committee. 
55. My delegation is of the view that even the last 
two or three days have yielded very wholesome results 
by way of debate. It has enabled points of view not 
only to be clarified but to be brought nearer. 
56. \Vhile nothing in the rules of procedure can 
prevent any delegation from submitting a draft resolu­
tion, I should like the guidance of the Chairman 
as to whether the presence of these draft resolutions 
does not really alter the character of the general de­
bate and whether the conclusions that ought to be ar­
rived at by the Committee itself, which are now put 
forward in the Canadian draft resolution, would not 
haw the effect of restricting the general debate. In 
those circumstances, would the Chairman feel that it 
is right either to advise the Committee or to seek its 
opinion so that the usual character of a general debate 
is maintained? 
57. My delegation regrets the introduction of these 
clra ft resolutions at this stage a:•1d believes that this is 
not conducive to arriving at the result. namely, finding 
accommodation between the different points of view. 
With regard to the Canadian draft resolution, I also 
want to point out that, in our appreciation of the situa­
tion, right or wrong, the effect on world public opinion 
is to give the feeling that the whole of this matter 
is now being sent back to a committee and that the 
next time that we shall hear about it is this time 
next year. 
58. The CHAIRMAN : I think that, according to the 
rules of procedure, draft resolutions can be introduced 
at any moment, technically even before any debate ; 
but it is clear that they will be put to a vote only at the 
end of a general debate. We all agree that we are going 
to have the general debate and all speakers who wants 
to speak can ask to do so. 
59. Mr. MOCH (France) (translated from French): 
I should like to thank the representative of Australia 
and apologize to him for intervening at this stage. I 
should also like to assure the Chairman that I shall 
not require more than the four minutes just taken 
by Mr. Menon. 
60. The French delegation is happy to accede to the 
Canadian delegation's request; it is ready to co-sponsor 
the Canadian draft resolution. It has had time to study 
the text and finds it to be in keeping with the spirit, 
if not the letter, of the Anglo-French proposal. In 
my statement on 11 October [ 68Sth meeting], said 
that the French delegation was prepared to consider 
any procedure that would facilitate that task, whether 
in the ordinary course of the full meetings of the 
Committee-as Mr. Menon wants, or, after a general 
debate here, in a small committee of the kind that met 
in Paris in 1951-as the Philippine representative has 
proposed, or even in a committee of the type that met 
in London in 1954, as proposed by the Canadian dele­
gation. 

61. The procedure laid down by the Canadian dele­
gation for the study of the Western proposals and of 
the new Soviet proposals seems to us the best. We 
agree with the Canadian representative that the Dis­
armament Commission and its Sub-Committee should 
be convened and that they should set to work as soon 
as the general discussion in the First Committee is 
finished, that is to say, during the present session 
of the General Assembly. As the Canadian represen­
tative has suggested, if the Disarmament Committee 
makes sufficient progress, it might report back to the 
First Committee, which could either reopen the debate 
or ask for an additional item to be included on its 
agenda. 

62. The French delegation would not have been op­
posed to the procedure su~gested by the Philippine 
delegation. But, like Mr. Menon, we would prefer. not 
to interrupt the general debate in the First Committee ; 
on the contrary, that debate should be allowed to pro­
ceed so that everyone can state his point of view and 
then, immediately afterwards, we can go on to the 
detailed work in the Sub-Committee, which has already 
proved its worth. 

63. In conclusion, may I say that I am an optimist; 
we must first and foremost gain a quick and clear 
grasp of the situation, and get our bearings without 
delay so that we can forge rapidly ahead. The Canadian 
proposal would serve that purpose, and that is sufficient 
reason for the French delegation to support it and to 
c>xpress the hope that the other three delegations that 
met in London will also respond to the Canadian repre­
sc>ntative's appeal to support it and overlook the minor 
objections which can always be found to a new text. 
T n that c<tse. the five members of the Sub-Committee 
c0uld unanimously propose this accelerated procedure 
to the First Committee. 

64. Mr. WADSWORTH (United State~ of Amer­
ica) : The United States is glad to co-sponsor the Cana­
dian draft resolution [ A/C.1j752l. which in our opin­
ion provides a constructive approach to this problem. 
\Vhile fully anpreciating the motives of the represen­
tative of the Philippines in putting forward his sugges­
tion, we believe that the Canadian draft resolution 
covers the points made in his draft resolution in a 
manner which better assures progress towards agree­
ment on disarmament. 

65. Mr. LLOYD (United Kingdom): I would like 
to express my thanks to the representative of Austra­
lia for his courtesy in giving way, as he has done, and 
I respond at once to the appeal of the representative 
of Canada. 

66. My Government is prepared to co-sponsor that 
draft resolution. However. I feel very strongly that 
we should not seek to limit in any way the fullest pos­
sible general debate. I think it would be a very poor 
compliment to the work of the Sub-Committee if our 
colleagues did not comment upon it at length and let us 
have the benefit of their views. I feel that so strongly 
that I shall not say any more now about the reasons for 
our co-sponsorship of the Canadian draft resolution 
except to say that I certainly do not regard it as mean­
ing a moratorium of twelve months in work on dis­
armament. I certainly would not accept that proposition. 
But I think we should really go into this procedural 
matter at a later stage and in the meantime permit the 
general debate to continue. 



56 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

67. The CHAIRMAN : May I ask the representative 
of the Philippines whether he desires to speak now on a 
point of order? 
68. Mr. SERRANO (Philippines): It is more or less 
a point of order, but I shall put it as a point of pro­
priety. 
69. The CHAIRMAN: Mav we again ask for the 
permission of the representative of Australia? 

70. Sir Percy SPENDER (Australia): So long as it 
is the last one. 

71. Mr. SERRANO (Philippines): Thank you. Be­
fnre saving- anything at this juncture of our debate, 
I would. of course, seek the permission of the Austra­
lian representative. But the point I am raising is one 
of propriety and perhaps the Chairman would like to 
interpret it as a point of order. 

72. I cannot understand how we can discuss the 
merits or demerits of particular proposals before they 
are actually put before us by the Chairman for dis­
cussion, especially at a time when the representative 
of Canada has itlst delivered his speech. T f allusions 
are made to particular drafts which are now before the 
Committee, certainly any representative sponsoring the 
draft will be called upon to rise in defence of it. But 
the time would not be proper. I suppose that if there 
are to be any remarks upon the draft resolutions now 
pending before the Committee, anv discussion thereon 
must necessarily be at the time when such drafts are 
proper1v placed,before the Committee for discussion by 
the Chairman. At this juncture, therefore, I would 
reserve my right to speak.on the references made to my 
draft resolution by the representatives of India and 
France. 
73. Mav I now reiterate my thanks to the Australian 
representative for the courtesy extended to the Philip­
pines delegation. 
74. The CHAIRMAN: I regret to have to inform the 
representative of Australia that although he has already 
g-iven permission to four speakers, the representative 
of the Soviet Union is now asking for the same privi­
lege. 
75. Sir Percy SPENDER (Australia): I would be 
in great trouble if I refused it. 

76. Mr. \TYSHINSKY (Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics) (translated from Russian) : I am very grate­
ful to the Australian representative for not objecting 
to my jnining the other speakers who have made state­
ments about the Canadian proposals. I shall not take 
more than two minutes. 

77. Y esterdav evening I received the letter Mr. Martin 
nrv kindly sent me, in which he asked the Soviet 
Union delegation. on behalf of the Canadian delegation, 
to co-sponsor the draft resolution which it was intro­
ducing. He was kind enough to enclose the draft reso­
lution. 

78. I hope Mr. Martin will not be annoyed with me 
if I say that in view of the late hour at which I received 
the letter and his draft resolution and the early hour at 
which our Committee convened, I have not yet had time 
to give his letter and the draft resolution the careful 
and thorough consideration which the matter warrants. 
As a matter of principle, the Soviet delegation never 
considers otherwise than sympathetically any proposal 
th?.t it should co-sponsor any draft resolution, but I 
can give a definite answer only after I have studied 
this question. I am unable to give such an answer 

at this precise moment and I hope that Mr. Martin 
will accept this statement as my preliminary reply to 
his kind letter which I received yesterday evening. 
79. Sir Percy SPENDER (Australia): I have asked 
to speak today not because I am ready at this stage 
to make my full statement in this general debate­
dealing- as it does with the issues of the gravest im­
portance for the world. and attractin~ as it does the 
thoughts and aspirations of millions of people through­
out the world whose interest is peace-but because I 
would like to put into the minds of the Committee at 
this point one or two thoughts about the way in which 
the First Committee may most effectively deal with 
this item. I know that this question of how the Com­
mittee should tackle this momentous problem and how 
smaller nations may make some useful contribution 
to this debate and to the resolution of the issues with 
which it is concerned has been in the minds of others 
who have spoken before me in this general debate. 
80. Unfortunately I was unable to be here on 11 Oc­
tober [ 6R5th meetinql when Mr. Mach made his long, 
lucid and most carefully worked out opening statement 
which, however, I have read with great attention. 
I have noticed with particular interest that towards 
the end of his statement Mr. Moch said: 

"It would also be desirable, after this information 
f some further information on the Soviet stand] is 
provided, for the Members of the United Nations as 
a whole . . . to have an opportunity to express their 
views on the point." 

This precisely points up the purpose of my interven­
tion at this stage. 
81. Yesterday morning [ 687th meeting] various repre­
sentatives, including the representatives of Greece and 
India, suggested that the opening statements made by 
the representatives of the Powers mainly concerned 
with the work of the Disarmament Commission over the 
last year might be made available to the Committee in 
verbatim form. This was a clear indication of the su­
preme importance which members of this Committee 
quite properly attach to the subject we are now debat­
ing. 
82. Yesterday morning also there was a suggestion 
from the representative of the Philippines on the pos­
sible method which this Committee might use to deal 
with the difficult task before it, the task, as I understood 
him, of clarifyim; the views of the Soviet Union and 
the Western Powers which this year appear to have 
come somewhat closer together than ever before in 
the long consideration which the United Nations has 
devoted to the disarmament problem. 
R3. T want to make it quite clear that I am not 
suggesting-certainly not at this stage-that this Com­
mittee as a whole, or any new sub-committee, might 
undertake the task of reconciling what appears to be 
the irreconcilable hut which of course we must never 
regard as such. My purpose is a lesser but yet an 
extn:mely important one, namely, to clarify the issues 
which divide the gr"at Powers, to secure, in other 
words, a g-reater clarification than is presently available 
of the nature of the task which lies before us. It is 
not sufficient, in mY judgment, to be referred to the 
records of the proc~edings of the Disarmament Com­
mission's Sub-Committee. not only because the position 
has changed by virtue of present SoYiet proposals, but 
also because any attempt at individual analysis of the 
issues is not likely to prove acceptable to others. Nor 
is it sufficient to follow in detail the course of this 



688th meeting - 13 October 1954 57 

debate in the various statements made, which them­
selves tend at times to lead, not to clarification, but to 
increased confusion. 
84. It is because I believe that the positions of the 
great Powers may possibly be closer than they have 
been before and because I think that the public in many 
countries, including Australia-where public interest 
in the work of the United Nations on disarmament is 
very keen indeed-will expect from us this year a 
really thorough-g-oing effort to g-et. here and now, to 
the very roots of these outstanding differences, that I 
take the time of the Committee to make this interven­
tion. 
85. This question that we are discussing is not to 
mv mind a matter which should be regarded-as I 
fear we tend more and more to regard ·it-as exclu­
sively the province of experts. It is a matter in which 
the public has a direct and vital interest in a way that 
perhaps does not apply to any other item that has 
ever come before the United Nations General Assembly. 
I admit that the technical details of reductions of 
forces, the establishnwnt of international controls. and 
the other matters which would have to be dealt with in 
a disarmament treaty, are complex indeed. But are they 
so complex. so difficult, that ordinary men and women 
cannot understand them at lea5t in broad outline? 
I believe it is our duty so to deal with this matter 
before us that the issues are made abundantly clear for 
the public of the whole world to see and understand. 
This will not be easy, but I do not think it a task from 
which we should shrink. no matter how difficult it may 
prove to be. 

86. Last year [ 662nd meeting] I went into some detail 
in my statement on this disarmament item to inform 
the Committee of the deep interest of my country 
in disarmament and the control of nuclear weapons as 
it had been revealed in the Australian Parliament short­
ly before I spoke, and from which had emerged a 
unanimous resolution-which is not a very frequent oc­
currence in the political life of my country-calling 
upon our delegation here to do everything possible to 
assist the work of the Disarmament Commission to 
arrive at a successful conclusion. I mention this merely 
as one instance of wide and growing public interest 
and concern in my own country and elsewhere, and 
I have no doubt that many representatives here could 
give the Committee similar examples from their own 
countries. 
87. As I have said, I do not intend today to discuss 
in detail the substance of the proposals which were 
put forward by the small group of Powers which 
made up the Sub-Committee of the Disarmament Com­
mission that met in London in May and June 1954. 
M v observations are directed to the question of how 
this Committee can best and most effectively discharge 
its responsibility-one which, despite the great respon­
sibilities and obligations which naturally are borne by 
the big Powers, rests nevertheless with equal weight on 
the shoulders of each representative here. 

88. The Disarmament Commission was established 
nearly three years ago by a resoluti?n of . the sixth 
session of the General Assembly, held m Pans [ resolu­
tion 502 (VI) 1. The debate in the First Com?Jittee. at 
that session was a long and memorable one, m wh1ch 
the then Secretary of State of the United States took 
the leading part. All the representatives of the great 
Powers spoke at length to explain as fully as possible 
their own positions and to explore those of others. 

And the representatives of other Powers-the middle 
Powers and the small Powers-also spoke and ex­
pressed their opinions fully on this problem. I think 
I am not mistaken in saying that it was at the instance 
of the middle and small Powers that a sub-committee 
of the First Committee was established to examine, 
during the sixth session itself, the differences between 
the great Powers and to attempt to arrive at some 
agreement. This attempt at reconciliation failed, and 
the matter was referred to the Disarmament Commis­
sion. After two and a half years, it reached the impasse 
with which we were confronted, until the representative 
of the Soviet Union, Mr. Vyshinsky, made his proposal 
in the General Assembly on 30 September f 484th meet­
ing] -if that in truth carries or is intended to carry 
the matter any further. 

89. In all my remarks the Committee will understand 
that I am in no way reflecting in the slightest degree 
on the hard and arduous task which has been carried 
out by the Disarmament Commission Sub-Committee. 
Each nation here owes that Sub-Committee a deep debt 
of gratitude. It is rather out of an earnest desire to 
assist others, in so far as we can, in the resolution of 
these great issues by such observations as we may use­
!ully make, that I wish to find means of clarifying the 
1ssues. 

90. The main problem before the Disarmament Com­
mission, and the work it has tried to do, have thus not 
changed since it was created in Paris. On the one 
side are the Western Powers, with their comprehen­
sive proposals for a system of disarmament with inter­
national control, and on the other side the Soviet Union 
with its established position in which there may perhaps 
have been some real movement in these last few weeks. 
I say this with caution, not desiring to reflect in any 
way upon the nature of the Soviet proposals, but 
because it is not in the least clear that there has been 
anv such real movement. In essence, then, the Disarma­
ment Commission had had one matter constantly before 
it: how to obtain from the representatives of the 
Soviet Union acceptable declarations-acceptable to 
them as well as to the Western Powers-in unequivocal 
terms regarding the control measures which the Soviet 
Government is really prepared to accept. This is the 
main problem before us and in essence it is, of course, 
what might be called primarily a great-Power problem. 

91. But although the achievement of such agreement 
is primarily a matter for the great Powers-because 
only after the great Powers have agreed on fundamental 
safeguards satisfactory to all of them can a universal 
system of disarmament be in any way considered for 
the \vhole world-this does not mean that the middle 
and smaller Powers do not have, at an appropriate 
stage. a useful, and indeed a very important, role to 
play in discussions aimed at reaching such agreement 
between the great Powers. I am not saying- that that 
stage has yet been reached, though I would hope that, 
if it has not, it is not far distant. I am. howewr, 
prepared to say that it is my belief that the stage has 
been reached at this session when the middle and 
smaller Powers must reassert their interest in this 
matter by playing a greater part in the discussions. a 
part aimed not so much, perhaps, at reconciling out­
standing differences between the g-reat Powers-which 
for practical reasons may well be beyond our com­
petence-but at least at clarifying them. Only in that 
way do I think I can properly discharge my duty 
as the representative of Australia in this matter. 



58 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

92. I believe that it was right for the Assembly 
last year to recommend [resolution 715 (VIII)] the 
establishment of a Sub-Committee of the Disarmament 
Commission so that the great Powers might talk things 
over in complete privacy. That had to be done and it 
was done very patiently and skilfully. But what were 
the actual results, in terms of agreements achieved, 
which emerged from these private great-Power con­
sultations? In terms of agreement, the London meetings 
in May and June got nowhere. What, then, do we 
have to thank for the fact that now, at the opening 
of this present Assembly session, Mr. Vyshinsky has 
come forward with proposals which make his position 
appear to be nearer to that of the Western Powers than 
at anv previous time? Is it because the Soviet Govern­
ment· has had second thoughts about the proposals 
which were discussed so exhaustively in the private 
talks in London? I would hope this to be so, but I 
would think it open to some doubt. I would think it 
not unlikely that the reason, or one reason, for the 
apparently more accommodating Soviet attitude is that. 
confronted in the General Assembly by the weight of 
public opinion of most, if not all, of the middle and 
smaller Powers, the Soviet Union did not feel it was 
politically desirable for its position to be presented to 
world opinion with all the rigidity and lack of compro­
mise which appeared to characterize its meetings with 
the great-Power group in London. Thus I submit 
that, if there has been a more accommodating approach 
hY the Soviet Union here in the United Nations. the 
importance to the Soviet Union of the opinions on 
this matter of the middle and smaller Powers has 
been in no small measure responsible for it. 

93. Now how do these considerations affect the way 
in which this First Committee goes about its work on 
this vital question? I have mentioned a number of 
factors-active public opinion in many countries and the 
significance attached bv the Soviet Union to securing 
th'e approval of the middle and smaller Powers in this 
matter being two of the most important. I would like 
to sug~est that this Committee should not be at all 
hastv in referring this question of resolving outstand­
ing differences between the major Powers back to the 
Sub-Committee of the Disarmament Commission. I 
believe that before this is done it is incumbent upon this 
Committee to provide machinery to obtain clarification 
of these outstanding differences. 

94. What is necessary, it seems to me, is to set up a 
sub-committee of the First Committee whose exclusive 
functions would be as follows : to report upon the 
precise nature of the issues between the parties; to 
report upon the extent to which there has been any 
agreement in principle or detail on any of those issues ; 
to report upon the principles and details of differences ; 
and to report upon the nature of such proposals as 
have been advanced in an effort to bridge those di f­
ferences. That would be something solid on which the 
Committee as a whole could usefully base its discus­
sions. 

95. There is, I think, some clear need for some ob­
jective analysis, and in this the Secretariat itself may 
perhaps be called in aid to assist the Committee in its 
deliberations. That, after all, is one of its functions 
which we have often, in relation to other matters, seen 
it perform so well. 
96. I have not sought to put my ideas in formal lan­
guage or indeed to make a formal proposal-! am 
at the moment merely desirous of placing an idea 

before the Committee for its consideration and examina­
tion. I am not for one moment saying that what I am 
suggesting would necessarily bring a solution, but I 
think it might help to soften the edges of differences 
between the great Powers in a way which might not 
be applicable in the small Disarmament Commission's 
Sub-Committee and at least aid us in the discharge of 
our important and grave duties. 

97. If movement towards agreement cannot be 
achieved during this present session, I believe most 
strongly that the points on which agreement could not 
be reached and the reasons for continuing disagree­
ment must be made perfectly clear to the people of the 
world. While I certainly do not anticipate such a failure 
-indeed I earnestly hope, as we all do, that we may 
move forward-! believe that if it did occur then it 
would be best for that failure and the reasons for it 
to be apparent to ordinary men and women throughout 
the world. 

98. For the reasons which I have given, the Australian 
delegation would find it impossible to support the draft 
resolution which has been put forward by the represen­
tative of the Philippines [A/C.1j751]. For the same 
reasons, we reserve consideration of our attitude on 
the proposal put forward by the representative of 
Canada [ AjC.1j752]. 

99. The CHAIRMAN (translated from Spanish): If 
no other speakers put their names down this afternoon. 
T shall suggest to the Committee that tomorrow we 
should consider the possibility of closing the list of 
speakers in the general debate, since, when that is 
over, we shall have the debate on the proposals 
themselves, in which representatives will be able to 
speak again. In addition, they always have the right 
of reply in accordance with rule 116. 

100. Mr. MENON (India): Irrespective of speakers 
inscribing themselves, I hope it will be borne in mind 
that some of us have to get instructions on these pro­
posals, and if the Chairman should close the list too 
early, and then the debate on the draft resolutions 
themselves is also short, we shall not be able to address 
the Committee with the necessary advice from our 
governments. That is the point I made before, namely, 
that whatever may be the purpose of the draft resolu­
tions, thev would in effect cut down the general debate 
and turn 'it into specific debates, which is very hard on 
us. I suppose we also have some contribution to make 
to these matters, and I hope the Chairman will bear 
that in mind. 

101. The CHAIRMAN (translated from Spanish): 
I would remind the Indian representative that after 
the general debate there will be a further debate on the 
proposals themselves. I want us to complete the first 
stage at least. After that representatives will be able 
to speak again on the proposals themselves. Moreover, 
I am not proposing that the list of speakers should 
be closed now. I only wanted to suggest it in case no 
more speakers put their names on the list, because in 
that case we should have no other alternative. 

102. Mr. Charles MALIK (Lebanon): I fully under­
stand the preoccupations which move the Chairman to 
urge us to inscribe our names on the list of speakers, 
and certainly the First Committee, being loaded with 
its supremely important task, should move along, but,_ 
as everybody has pointed out so far, this is one of the 
most important questions that has ever come before the 
United Nations. 



688tb meeting - 13 October 1954 59 

103. I do not think, with all respect to the functions 
of the Chair and to the exigencies of the Secretariat 
and to the general work of the United Nations, that 
we can properly hurry this debate. I think, therefore, 
that it would be neither reasonable nor fair even to 
contemplate the possibility of closing the list of speakers 
tomorrow. 
104. I would suggest that the very earliest date on 
which that particular rule of procedure should be 
invoked would not be before Monday, 18 October, 
because, as the representative of India has said-and as 
some other representatives said yesterday-it takes 
time to get the texts, to study them carefully. and to 
confer with our governments and with one another. 
Some delegations are not as well equipped with advisers 
and research workers as others, so that it is difficult for 
them to see their wav to fruitful and constructive parti­
cipation in this all~important debate for some time. 
Therefore. with all respect to the urgency under which 
the Chairman works, but also having regard to what 
has been said by almost every speaker about the 
necessity of leaving this debate as open and as free as 
possible, I would b<.'g him not to force us to face a 
closure of the list of speakers tomorrow. I think that 
by Mondelv, 18 October, all representatives ought to 
have made. up their minds about it. Also, in a sense, 
everv representative on a Committee has potentially 
inscribed his name on the list of speakers and is only 
waiting until he receives instructions from his govern­
ment before making his statement. If a date is set on 
which we must hand in our names, it will be found 
that there are sixty names on the list. 
105. Having said all that, I would beg the Chairman 
and the Committee to be patient and to allow us the 
maximum latitude possible, because this is a topic which 
fully merits such latitude. I was glad to hear the repre­
sentative of Canada say that the debate might still con­
tinue for one or two weeks longer. I think that the 
other items on the agenda of the Committee are very 
important. but perhaps this one is at least as important 
as any other, and we cannot give it too much time. 
106. The CHAIRMAN (translated from Spanish): 
I should like to reply to the observations of the repre­
sentative of Lebanon. I agree that there can be no ques­
tion of hurrying the debate, but rather of organizing 
our work I also agree that we can save a great deal 
of time if we let representatives study the matters under 
discussion. But what we need is a definite programme, 
because it is useless to meet to hear only one or two 
speakers, and have matters go on in that way indefi­
nitely. 
107. It seems to me that the Lebanese suggestion is 
most opportune, and the list of speakers will be closed 
at 1 p.m. on Monday, 18 October. 
108. Mr. SERRANO (Philippines): According to 
our understanding of the procedure outlined by the 
Chairman, the purpose for which each draft resolution 
is presented may be defeated. I do not wish to imply 
that it is the desire of the Philippine delegation to 
deprive any representative of the right to participate 
in the debate ; we are firm believers in the right of free 
discussion, and the draft resolution which we have 
presented is not designed to remove that right. But 
there are certain fundamental purposes which, accord­
ing to that draft resolution, should be observed. 
109. Therefore it is suggested by the delegation of the 
Philippines that perhaps the proper procedure would 
be to cope with the situation as it develops ; that is to 

say, if a draft resolution has been presented after a 
certain speaker has made his statement, such draft 
resolution should be taken up according to the order in 
which it was presented, without prejudice, of course, 
to the continuation of the general debate after action 
has been taken on the said draft resolution. The draft 
resolution may be intended precisely to suspend the 
debate temporarily in the interests of greater objectives 
to be achieved. That is what the Philippine delegation 
has in mind; there is absolutely no desire to remove 
the right to discuss freely the issues before the Com­
mittee, but questions of propriety, in the interests of 
the accomplishment of our ultimate objectives, must 
be reconciled with the right of debate. Our procedure 
must be designed to serve a greater end, a greater 
purpose : disarmament and the peace of the world. That 
is why it is suggested by the Philippine delegation 
that if any particular draft resolution is presented, ob­
viously with a certain purpose in view, the situation 
must be tackled bv the Committee in the order in which 
it has arisen, and then it will devolve upon the Com­
mittee to determine the wisdom of such draft resolu­
tion. If the Committee decides against it, the decision 
of the Committee, of course, prevails. 

110. As draft resolutions have been presented by the 
Philippine and Canadian delegations. and a proposal 
put forward by the representative of Australia concern­
ing the functions of the Sub-Committee, we suggest 
that the situation must be faced as it arises, without 
prejudice, as I have stated, to the continuation of the 
debate after action upon the draft resolutions has been 
taken by the Committee. 

111. The CHAIRMAN (translated from Spanish) : 
I must explain the position. Under the rules of pro­
cedure, if a proposal is made, it can be put to the 
vote only at the conclusion of the general debate. We 
cannot, therefore, put the Philippine proposal to the 
vote, as the representative of the Philippines has sug­
gested, unless there is an explicit request in the draft 
resolution, in accordance with rule 117 of the rules of 
procedure, that the debate should be postponed or sus­
pended. However, I have read the draft resolution 
carefully and it does not propose either the suspension 
or postponement of the discussion. It is a draft reso­
lution submitted in accordance with rule 104 on the 
establishment of sub-committees. The same is true of 
the proposal submitted by Canada, so that unless some 
delegation requests a suspension of the discussion, we 
must keep to the ordinary procedure and conclude the 
general debate. When that is over, there will be a 
debate on the proposals themselves and we shall then 
put them to the vote. 

112. Mr. SERRANO (Phillipines): The Philippine 
delegation is not unaware of the rules invoked by the 
Chairman, but when a vote is taken on a draft resolu­
tion, that constitutes the decision of the Committee 
on the draft resolution itself. What the Philippine dele­
gation has in mind is discussion of the draft resolu­
tion as it appears in the order of business of the Com­
mittee. The vote may be taken after the general debate 
has been closed. Indeed, it may be said that, according 
to the Philippine draft resolution, discussion may be 
shifted for the time being to the working group. That 
in itself is a debate, according to our interpretation 
of the rules. Discussion by a certain group instead of 
in a general group is in itself a continuation of the 
debate as contemplated by the rules. As to whether this 
particular rule should or should not be followed, it 



60 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

is for the Committee to decide, but, with respect to 
the vote taken, the latter must necessarily be after 
representatives have made their general statements. 
However, discussion of the draft resolution should take 
place in the order in which the draft resolution has 
been presented to the Committee. That is the interpre­
tation which the Philippine delegation places on the 
rule in connexion with the Committee's procedure. 

113. The CHAIRMAN (translated from Spanish): 
I am sorry to insist, but I think the point is very clear. 
During the general debate, delegations are entirely at 
libertv to speak on the substance of the item or on anv 
of the proposals. As regards the discussion of the prci'­
posals themselves, the rules of procedure and the prac­
tice of the Committee have always been that the gen­
eral debate should first be concluded, and then the 
proposals discussed. Of course the Committee is per­
fectly free to change this procedure, but T cannot do 
it unless a suggestion to that effect is made by some 
delegation and the majority of the Committee so 
decides. Thus, in the present circumstances, we must 
first finish the general debate, then have a debate on 
the proposals, and then vote. However, as I said, under 
the rules of procedure any delegation can propose a 
change, since the rules of procedure authorize it. 
114. Mr. SERRANO (Philippines): In view of the 
explanation given by the Chairman, T think that the 
Philippine delegation would be compelled to submit to 
the Committee's decision in this connexion, given the 
fact that the purpose of its draft resolution will be 
best served by the order of business indicated bv the 
Philippine delegation. It is therefore moved that the 
procedure should be somewhat departed from in the 
sense that the draft resolution should be discussed in 
the on-ler in which it has come to the Chairman. 
115. Mr. Charles MALIK (Lebanon): To cut short 
this procedural matter, I formally move that the gen­
eral debate on this item be continued, and that the 
texts which we have before us now, or which we 
may have before us in the future, be taken up at 
the end of the general debate. 
116. Mr. MUNOZ (Argentina) (translated from 
Span ish) : I believe that the representative of the Phil­
ippines has not, as the Chairman sees it, raised a 
question of procedure. All Mr. Serrano wants is an 
opportunity to discuss the proposals during the gen­
era 1 debate. I believe that there can be no difficulty 
in this ren-anl. As T understand it. all delegations can, 
if they wish, refer to motions which have been made 
and even to those which have not been made yet. The 
general debate is sufficiently wide to cover all· these. 
117. It seems to me that the Philippine representa­
tive has raised a question which should be dealt with 
when a vote is taken, namely, the order in which the 
proposals are to be voted on. As I see it, this is not 
a question to be decided now, but when the Commit­
tee decides to vote. It will then decide whether the 
Philippine proposal or the Canadian proposal is to be 
taken first, or some other proposal which may have 
been made regarding the procedure to be followed. 
At this point there is no problem. We are in the middle 
of the general debate, that debate is continuing, and the 
representative of the Philippines does not want it to 
be suspended and the discussion on specific proposals 
to start. I think that if we assure him that his delega­
tion can refer to any proposals both during the gen­
eral debate and afterwards, we shall have dealt with 
this point. 

118. The CHAIRMAN (translated from Spanish): 
I fully agree with the representative of Argentina. 
Naturally, specific proposals can be discussed in the 
general debate. In addition, when the general debate 
is finished, there will be the customary debate on 
specific proposals. But both then and now, in the gen­
eral debate, all representatives can refer to any of 
the proposals. 
119. The representative of Lebanon has made a formal 
proposal. However, before putting it to the vote I 
should like to know whether the representative of 
the Philippines, in view of the clarification given by 
the representative of Argentina, with which I am in 
complete agreement, wishes to maintain his point, or 
whether we can agree that the general debate should 
continue as was envisaged. 
120. Mr. SERRANO (Philippines): The Philippine 
delegation would like to remind the Chairman that it 
presented a formal motion preceding that submitted by 
the representative of Lebanon. 
121. The CHAIRMAN (translated from Spanish): 
I had not realized that tlw Philippine representative 
had made a formal proposal. I should like to know 
what the proposal is. 
122. Mr. SERRANO (Philippines): The Philippine 
delegation moves that, for the observance of the order 
of business of the Committee, the general debate may 
yield temporarily to any draft resolution or motion 
that has been presented at any time during the general 
debate, with a view to the discussion of such draft 
resolution or motion. 
123. The CHAIRMAN (translated from Spanish): 
There seems to be some misunderstanding, because 
that point has already been covered, as the Argentine 
representative explained. There is no need to alter 
our procedure, because the possibility is provided for. 
Representatives may refer to the various proposals 
at any point in the general debate. 
124. Mr. SERRANO (Philippines) : There is one 
difficulty in that connexion, and it is an important one. 
T believe that no delegation which has been accorded 
the right to speak will be given the opportunity to 
intervene again until all other representatives have 
made their statements. 
125. The CHAIRMAN: Until the list of speakers is 
exhausted, all delegations are free to ask for permis­
sion to speak, and I shall accord that permission to 
any delegation as many times as it wishes. 
126. Mr. SERRANO (Philippines): On that clarifi­
cation, the motion of the Philippine delegation is with­
drawn. 
127. Mr. KYROU (Greece): What has been ex­
tremely helpful and hopeful is that this disarmament 
debate has been conducted with disarming tactics on 
the part of all representatives, and more particularly on 
the part of the representatives of the Powers prin­
cipally involved. 
128. In this same disarming spirit, I should like to 
say a few words on the proposal of the Philippine 
delegation. In all fairness to this proposal, there is 
an idea of dividing the general debate into two parts, 
and, if we agreed to take a vote on this proposal only 
at the end of the debate, then, assuming that the 
debate went on for two weeks, there would not be 
much time left for this proposal, if it is voted on 
favourably, to be effectuated, since this proposal sets 
up a time limit of 15 November for the submission 



688th meeting - 13 October 1954 61 

of the report of the working group. That, of course, 
concerns the formalities of the situation. As to the 
substance, however, I am quite sure that the repre­
sentative of the Philippines would agree that the same 
purpose could be achieved if, during this general 
debate, the members of the Sub-Committee could meet 
informally and discuss the subject that the represent­
ative of the Philippines has in mind. 
129. Mr. Charles MALIK (Lebanon): In view of 
the fact that the representative of the Philippines is 
no longer asking for a departure from our normal 
procedure, and since my proposal was intended only 
to confirm our normal procedure, there is certainly 
no longer any need for it. I take it, therefore, that the 
general debate is going to continue according to the 

Printed in Canada 

procedure that we have always followed during the 
past nine years of the history of the United Nations; 
that in the general debate any representative may speak 
on any aspect of the question that may be before him, 
including whatever draft resolutions are submitted; 
that, upon the closure of the general debate, as the 
Chairman has said, there may be another debate spe­
cifically on the texts before us; and that we will then 
proceed to take decisions on these texts and thus to 
bring the consideration of this item to a close. I take 
it that that is the normal procedure and that therefore 
there is no need for the Chairman to put my formal 
proposal to the vote. 

The meeting rose at 12.30 p.m. 

A-41889-November 1954--1,950 


